
 

AGENDA  

Caribou City Council 

Regular City Council Meeting 

6:00 P.M. Tuesday, October 13, 2015 

Caribou City Council Chambers 
1. Public Input 

 
2. Declaration of Conflicts of Interest from the City Council regarding any agenda item. 

 

3. Consider authorizing the minutes of the following meetings:  
a) September 14, 2015 City Council Meeting 2-6 

  
 

4. Consent Agenda  
a) September 2015 Fire Department Report 7-8  
b) September 2015 Library Department Report 9-13 
c) September 2015 Police Department Report 14-15 
d) August 2015 Financials  

 
5. PDT Architects – RSU School Project 16 

 
6. Old personal property and Real Estate Tax 17-18 

 
7. Agreement between City of Caribou and VFW for placement of Flags 19-20 

 
8. Sale of Tax Acquired Property 21 

 
9. 2015 Paving Projects 22 

 
10. Resolution Authorizing Continuance of DRMO Program  23-24 

 
11. Carpet at Library 25-26 

 
12. Ordinance regarding sale of city property 27-28 

 
13. Other Business 

 
14. Executive Session pursuant to 1 MRSA § 405(6)(D) to discuss labor negotiations with 

Teamsters Local Union 340 and New England Police Benevolent Association Local 605. 
 

Upcoming Meeting Dates: 
2016 Budget Public Forums October 19, 20, and 21, 2015 at 6pm 
Regular City Council Meeting October 26, 2015 at 6pm 
 
 

 

City of Caribou, Maine Municipal Building 

  25 High Street 
  Caribou, ME 04736 

Telephone (207) 493-3324 
  Fax (207 498-3954 
  www.cariboumaine.org 



 

         15-20 

A regular meeting of the Caribou City Council was held 6:00 p.m. on Monday September 14, 2015 in 

Council Chambers with following members present:  Mayor Gary Aiken, Deputy Mayor David Martin, 

Philip McDonough II, Joan L. Theriault, Shane McDougall, and Jody R. Smith.  Tiffany J. Stewart was 

absent and excused. 

Austin Bleess, City Manager was present. 

Department Managers:  Penny G. Thompson, Tax Assessor; Michael Gahagan, Police Chief; and Gary 

Marquis, Supt. of Parks and Recreation. 

Chris Bouchard, representing the Aroostook Republican and Time Warner Cable covered the meeting. 

No Councilors objected to Mayor Aiken decision to move Council Agenda Item #6:  Abatement Request 

from Paven Enterprises ahead of Council Agenda Item #5:  PDT Architects – RSU School Project. 

Council Agenda Item #1:  Public Input 

None 

Council Agenda Item #2:  Declaration of Conflicts of Interest from the City Council regarding any agenda 

item. 

Councilor McDougall declared a conflict of interest with Council Agenda Item #9: Airport Master Plan 

Update and Councilor Theriault declared a conflict of interest with Council Agenda #6: Abatement 

Request from Paven Enterprises.         

Council Agenda Item #3:  Consider authorizing the minutes of the following meetings: 

a) August 10, 2015 

b) June 11, 2015 Secession Public Hearing 

Motion made by D. Martin, seconded by J. Smith, to approve the minutes of the August 10, 2015 Council 

Meeting and June 11, 2015 Secession Public Hearing as presented.  (5 yes)  So voted.   

Council Agenda Item #4:  Consent Agenda 

a) August 2015 Fire Department Report 

b) August 2015 Library Department Report 

c) July 2015 Financials 

d) July and August 2015 Police Department Report 

e) CDBG Advisory Committee 

1. Designate the Business Investment Group (BIG) 

f) November Election 

1. Approve of an 8:00 a.m. opening time for the November 3rd election 

2. Appoint Jayne R. Farrin as Election Warden and Kalen Hill as Deputy Election 

Warden  

3. Sign Notice of Municipal Election 

Motion made by P. McDonough, seconded by J. Theriault, to approve Consent Agenda Items with 

business items A-F as presented.  (5 yes)  So voted.  

 



3 
 

         15-20 Pg. 2 

Council Agenda Item #6:  Abatement Request from Paven Enterprises 

Paven Enterprises is requesting an abatement of property taxes for the tax years 2012, 2013, and 2014.  

A clerical mistake was made by RJD during the revaluation process.  The property at 24 Sweden Street 

was in error classified as residential rather than commercial.  MMA Legal has stated that this clerical 

mistake by RJD would qualify for an abatement under 36 MRSA § 841, which allows municipal officers to 

make such reasonable abatement as they consider proper to correct any illegality, error or irregularity in 

assessment.  The request must be filed after one but within 3 years from commitment.  The 2012 date 

of commitment was July 1, 2012 and is outside the timeframe.  The Board of Assessors recently 

approved the 2015 abatement request. 

Motion made by J. Smith, seconded by P. McDonough, to abate the 2013 property taxes by $2,677.30 

and the 2014 property taxes by $2,912.38 for Map 31 Lot 59.  (4 yes, 1 abstention, J. Theriault)  So 

voted.  

Council Agenda Item #5:  PDT Architects – RSU School Project 

Lyndon Keck of PDT Architects updated the Council with the RSU #39 School Building project.  The RSU 

#39 building project is one of the 11 given the go ahead by the State.  The Building Committee’s number 

one site for a new consolidated K-8 school is between Bennett Drive and Glenn Street.  In an August 21, 

2015 memo to the City Manager and City Council, Mr. Keck outlines six major issues that need to be 

addressed by the RSU and the City of Caribou concerning this site.  Some of the 15 to 18 acres of land 

needed to build a school between Bennett Drive and Glenn Street is owned by the City of Caribou.  PDT 

has completed five “test fits” for the Bennett Drive property but hasn’t designed a building.   

Initially ten sites in Caribou were considered with that narrowed down to six sites, then PDT ranked 

them using a matrix with the Teague Park site scoring the most points followed by Hilltop and a site off 

the Van Buren road.  The architects have completed a new construction versus renovation study and 

they are recommending new construction because of the age of the three schools range from 55 to 89 

years old.  It is expected the new school will be between 115,000 to 120,000 square feet in size with 

approximately 65% of the total square footage is required to be on the ground floor.   

Mr. Keck gave an overview of the improvements, restrictions, and conditions of use for Teague Park 

because of money received from the National Park Service.  The RSU has reached the point where a 

decision needs to be made as to whether it makes sense to continue with the Teague Park site or move 

to the Hilltop site.  Mr. Keck stated the Department of Education thinks the Teague Park site is ideal 

because the Department likes to see schools built in the center of communities.  The Department sees a 

strong connection between the Wellness Center and the school which was also seen by the Building 

Committee. 

When asked by Councilor Smith about access for the public to the ballfield and tennis courts, Mr. Keck 

stated that he isn’t sure that a RSU can have the open access that the City can.  Mr. Keck explained the 

scoring criteria and that Teague Park scored 257 out of a possible 330, Hilltop received 202, Lombard 

Road site received 167, High School site received 171, Van Buren road site received 158, and South Main 

Street site received 139.  It was stated by Mr. Keck that cost estimates have not been done, but the new 

school will cost tens of millions of dollars. 

 



4 
 

         15-20 Pg. 3 

RSU Attorney Bill Stockmeyer of Drummond Woodsum spoke briefly about the many variables involved 

in the amount paid by the State for the construction of a new school.  If there aren’t any extra elements 

then the project should be a State funded project rather than a Caribou funded project.  On a monthly 

basis, the Building Committee works with the Architects to determine what elements they want in the 

building, and then the Department of Education determines whether or not they are going to pay for 

those elements.  During this process there will be two straw votes to determine if the public wants any 

extra elements.  The City pool will not be replaced by the Department of Education, but they will pay for 

demolition of the buildings, rebuilding of fields and tennis courts.   

Public meetings will be held in each of three communities during the first week of October.  All three 

communities will vote on this project.  It takes five to six years to complete a project of this type. 

Councilor Theriault has serious reservations about the City giving up the park and the pool.  She 

supports locating the school at the High School so everything is consolidated.  Mr. Keck stated that there 

isn’t enough at the High School site to locate a K-8 school.   

The Building Committee has discussed moving the Learning Center Programs to Hilltop.  

Projected timeline:   

• Site selected and site design by the end of December 

• Straw poll in January 2016 

• Then present site to the State Board of Education  

• Start design of the building in December 

• Straw poll on the concept design in July or August 2016 

• Referendum Election at the General Election in November 2016 

If the new school is built at the Teague site there has been discussion about moving Teague students to 

Hilltop and the middle school during construction.  Mr. Keck stated that if the Teague site is used by the 

time the project is completed there will be a softball field, 4 tennis courts, and 2 basketball courts.  

Councilor Martin stated his concern that the current plan doesn’t show any land for a pool.  Mr. Keck 

commented that more dedicated land for the City may need to be added to the project. 

Mr. Keck stated that Teague site is at the top of the list and they are no longer investigating other sites 

and they will work as hard as they can to see if they can make this site work.   

Mr. Keck asked if the National Guard could be asked to move.  There haven’t been any comments from 

the National Guard as to whether they would consider moving from their location behind the Wellness 

Center.   

A member of the Building Committee, Supt. Marquis stated that he would prefer the RSU to build north 

of the Recreation Department’s maintenance shed and to have the RSU purchase the land where the 

pool is located.  South of the maintenance shed would remain the City’s park. 

When asked by the Mayor about the property issues with the Hilltop site, Mr. Keck commented that the 

site is a little tight and could use additional land.  They have spoken to the adjacent property owner and 

he is willing to sell additional land. 

 



5 
 

         15-20 Pg. 4 

Councilor McDonough stated that he doesn’t want to spend any more money than what is needed 

whether it is State or City money. 

Councilor Theriault suggest the fields on the proposed plan could be swapped for Teague Park then 

move the Park to the same side as the Wellness Center.  This would provide land for any future 

expansion of the Wellness Center.  Mr. Keck offered that Councilor Theriault’s suggestion is a “good 

one” and just the type he was hoping to hear.   

Mr. Keck will take what has been discussed this evening, meet with Department of Education, and then 

meet once more with the Council. 

Council Agenda Item #7:  City Hall Projects 

Motion made by D. Martin, seconded by J. Theriault, to do the necessary masonry work and to authorize 

the hiring of an individual or firm to complete a design plan for the remodeling of the first floor at City 

Office.  (5 yes)  So voted.  

Council Agenda Item #8:  City Owned Property 

Staff has been reviewing several City owned parcels of land to see if the City still needs to own the 

property.  Three properties have been identified. 

1. Map 5 Lot 15 – off railroad tracks near Dow Siding Road 

2. Map 8 Lot 20 – off railroad tracks between Route 1 and the river 

3. Map 36 Lots 104 and 106 – off Limestone Street 

Councilor Smith introduced Ordinance No. 11, 2015 Series, An Ordinance regarding the sale of municipal 

Property and to schedule a Public Hearing for October 13, 2015.   

Council Agenda Item #9:  Airport Master Plan Update 

Motion by J. Smith, seconded by D. Martin, to approve the updated Airport Master Plan.  (4 yes, 1 

abstention, S. McDougall) So voted. 

Council Agenda Item #10:  16 Sincock Street 

Motion made by D. Martin, seconded by P. McDonough, to authorize an asbestos inspection and to go 

out to bid for demolition of the building.  (4 yes, 1 no, J. Smith)  So voted. 

Council Agenda Item #11:  2016 Budget 

Staff is preparing initial requests for the 2016 Budget and is requesting any guidance from Council.  

Manager Bleess commented on estimated increases in health insurance, possible COLA for employees, 

and budgeting an increase allotment for vacation and sick time pay outs.   

Councilors Theriault, McDonough, and Smith do not want to see a tax increase.  Councilor Martin stated 

to bring them a reasonable budget and they will take it from there.  Councilor Theriault stated to bring a 

budget and show what is needed and the Council will go from there. 

Councilor Martin stated that when surveyed the public is happy with the services and not happy with 

the taxes.  Councilor McDonough stated that maybe it is time to say “no”.  There was discussion 

concerning the monies that were returned to the City from Maine PERS and using some of this money  



6 
 

          15-20 Pg. 5 

to reduce the City’s unfunded vacation and sick time liability.  Councilor Martin stated that he sees no 

problem spending one-time funds on one-time expenses. 

Council Agenda Item #12:  Other Business 

1. The Mayor allowed Tina Disy to speak.  Ms. Disy asked how a meeting could be arranged with 

her, her son, and some witnesses on a matter.  The Mayor suggested she speak during Public 

Input at the next Council meeting. 

2. RSU communities meetings are being held October 6th in Limestone, October 7th in Stockholm, 

and October 8th in Caribou.  

Motion made by J. Smith, seconded by D. Martin, to adjourn the meeting at 8:05 p.m.  (5 yes)  So voted. 

Upcoming Meeting Dates: 

Regular City Council Meeting October 13, 2015, 2015 at 6:00 p.m. 

Regular City Council Meeting October 26, 2015 at 6:00 p.m. 

2016 Budget Public Forums October 19, 20, and 21, 2015 at 6:00 p.m. 

 

        Jayne R. Farrin, Secretary 

 

 

 



7 
 

CFAD MONTHLY REPORT 

SEPTEMBER 2015 
 
Total Fire/ Rescue Calls 19   Total Amb Calls  188  inc. Air & Assists   
-Alarms for Fires (33)  1   - Ground Amb.:    178 
-Alarms for Rescues (66) 1   - Air Amb Flights: 4     
-Silent Alarms   17   - Amb Assist Calls: 6    
 -Haz-Mat  1   - ALS Calls  121  
 -Grass Fires     - BLS Calls  55   
 -Chimney Fires     - No Transport 6 
 -False Alarms  1   - Long Distance Transfers 35 

-10-55's  6   - Calls Turned Over:    9 
 -Aid to Police  2   Total Out of Town Amb Calls     15  
 -Public Service 2   Total Out of Town Fire/Rescue Calls    3 
       Est. Fire Loss, Caribou $15,000   
      Est. Fire Loss, out of City $ 
Total Hours Pumped  2.75   Total Est. Fire Loss  $15,000 
Gallons of Water Used 1,780   Total Maint. Hours  19.5 mhrs. 
Amt. of Hose used:  650’   Total Training Hours  197.5 mhrs.  
Ladders Used (in Feet):  16’ (75’Ariel)__1__ Miles Traveled by all Units 13,719 
Thermal Imaging Camera Used: 1  Fire Permits Issued 17 
CO2 Meter Used:   2   
Rescue Sled & Snowmobile:    *Color Guard Training 46 mhrs. 
Rescue Boat:        
Jaws Used:    1  Total Fire & Amb. Calls 207   
               
MUTUAL AID TO:     MUTUAL AID FROM: 
 P.I.F.D.      P.I.F.D. 1  
 F.F.F.D.           F.F.F.D.  
 L.F.D.       L.F.D.      
 W.F.D.               W.F.D.    
 Stockholm F.D.     Stockholm F.D.  
 North Lakes FD     North Lakes FD 
 Crown Amb  4    Crown Amb 
 Van Buren Amb.  
 

OUT OF CITY FIRES/RESCUES 
LOCATION  # OF CALLS  MAN HRS.  
Woodland   1  1 mhr.   
New Sweden   1  2.25 mhrs.   
Connor   1  2.25 mhrs.     
Westmanland      
   
    
Middle School presentation – 3 mhrs. 
Fire Extinguisher Class = 50 participants 
 
       ___________________________________ 
        Scott Susi, Chief 
        Caribou Fire and Ambulance 



8 
 

BREAKDOWN OF FIRES 
For September 2015 

 

Situation Found # Of Incidents Fire Casualties Est. Property 

Damage 

1. Private Dwellings inc. Mobile    
     Homes                                    

1  $15,000 

2. Apartments (3 or more) 
 

   

3. Hotels & Motels 
 

   

4. Dormitories & Boarding Homes 
 

   

5. Public Assembly (Church,  
    Restaurant) 

   

6. Schools 
 

   

7. Institutions (Hospitals, Jails, 
    Nursing Homes) 

   

8. Stores, Offices 
 

   

9. Industry, Utility, Defense 
 

   

10. Storage 
 

   

11. Vacant Buildings or being Built 
 

   

12. Fires outside structure w/value 
      (crops, timber, etc.) 

   

13. Fires Highway Vehicles 
 

   

14. Other Vehicles (planes, trains, 
      etc.) 

   

15. Fires in brush, grass w/no value 
 

1 – Dump 
Site 

  

 

Other Incidents 

16. Haz-Mat 1 

17. False Calls 1 

18. Mutual Aid Calls  

19. Aid to Ambulance (10-55's) 6 

20. Aid to Police 2 

21. Investigation (Smoke, CO2 or Alarm) 5 (1-Propane; 2 Smoke; 1-CO; 1-Alarm) 

22. Service Calls 2 (1-Mud Run Standby; 1-Elevator Rescue) 

 
 
Total Calls for the Month: ____19_____



9 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
To: Mayor and City Councilors 
CC: Austin Bleess, City Manager 
From: Lisa Neal Shaw, Library Director 
Date: October 8, 2015 
Re: September 2015 Library Report 
Dear Honorable Council Members: 

I. Statistics and Usage 
Table Count: 1283 
Story Hour Attendance: 78 
2617 materials were circulated  
146 books were downloaded. Of these, 69 were audiobooks. 
23 new patrons signed up for library cards. 
1929 people walked through our doors. 
Our public access computers had 464 sessions; average usage time 
is 1 hour 11 minutes. 
Another 240 people accessed wifi with their own devices 
88.25 hours of volunteer time were donated by the community 
We have two book groups using the library ILL van system now 
(one meets on-site and one off-site); a knitting group; a writers 
group; the Aroostook Genealogical Society; and there is potential 
interest from a local amateur radio club. 
 

II. Other 

• The Library Director attended the first session of the Maine 
Library Leadership Institute in Waterville, ME. This will involve 
working on a project over the next year with mentor librarian 

Devin Burritt of the Wells Public Library. At this time, the 
planned project is a combined technology conference in May 
2016 with the Maine Municipal Association. 

• Maine State Librarian Jamie Ritter was the guest speaker at the 
September 30 Caribou Rotary lunch. He also visited our library 
and met several staff and volunteers. The Rotary lunch was very 

well attended and as a result, Mark Jones from the Caribou 
school system visited the library to discuss expanding the 
library’s iLEAD funded circulating wifi project to school 
students who do not have Internet access at home.  

• The library received its two circulating hotspots, 1 tablet and 1 
laptop from iLEAD. 

 

CARIBOU PUBLIC LIBRARY 
CARIBOU, MAINE 



10 
 

• The library received a donation of a Raspberry Pi computer and 
peripherals from Steve Vance.   

• The Library Director and volunteer Teen Services Librarian 
Amanda Michaud attended the Northern Maine Library District 
Conference in Bangor, which focused this year on rural 

broadband connectivity challenges and progress with speaker 
Jessamyn West and on graphic novels for young adults.  

• The library participated in Banned Books Week this past month 
with a display set up by volunteer Teen Librarian Amanda 
Michaud under the supervision of Youth Services Librarian 
Katie Wilcox-Bosse. This display generated a great deal of 

enthusiastic discussion with our patrons. Some expressed 
concern and occasionally outrage that these books were about to 
be withdrawn present-day due to content.  

• Children’s programming under the direction of Youth Services 
Librarian Katie Wilcox-Bosse continues to be highly popular. 

Lydia Wenzel Kieffer brought Sydney the Library Lab’s puppies 
to a recent program that was very warmly and enthusiastically 
received.  

 
Please find attached a few pictures from our events, programs, and offerings over the 
past month. 

 
Thank you! 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
Lisa Neal Shaw 
Library Director         
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Around the Library September 2015 



11 
 

   

 

Puppies! 

Banned Books Week 
Display 



12 
 

 
 

iLEAD ME circulating hotspots, tablet, laptop 

 

   

Northern Maine Library 
District Conference celebrating 
rural broadband connectivity 
initiatives, graphic novels for 
young adults, and the 
retirement of District 
Consultant Valerie Osborne 
(center right).  



13 
 

 
Above: State Librarian Jamie Ritter talks to Caribou Rotary and visits staff and 
volunteers at Caribou Public Library.  
Below: Donation of Raspberry Pi computer and peripherals to the library and one 
of the many books we have to show people how to use it.  

 
 



14 
 

Caribou Police Department

SEPTEMBER 2015 MONTHLY REPORT   

 OFFENSE Amount OFFENSE Amount

1 Complaints 1966 40 Oper. Wrong Way on a One Way 0

2 Motor Vehicle Accidents 21 41 Viol. Of Title 29 A Sec 2101 0

3 Escorts 3 42 Violation of Permit 0

4 Theft Complaints 19 43 Failure to Stop at Stop Sign 0

5 Crim. Mischief Complaints 5 44 Failure to Stop for Pedestrians 0

6 Animal Complaints 22 45 Passing Stopped School Bus 0

7 Domestic Complaints 9 46 Stops and Checks M/V 1514

8 Burglary Complaints 2 47 Parking Tickets 0

9 Oper. M/V Under the Influ. 6 48 Business Alarms 25

10 Criminal Trespass Comp. 6 49 M/V Permits 9

11 Motor Vehicle Theft 1 50 Handling Prisoners 42

12 Unsecured Doors&Windows 0 51 Running Intoxilyzer 12

13 Motor Vehicle Complaints 33 52 No Insurance 7

14 Missing Persons 1 53 Warrant Arrests 11

15 Harassment Complaints 23 54 Negotiating a Worthless Instrment 0

16 Assault Complaints 4 55 Leave the Scene of Accident 0

17 O.A.S. Arrests 7 56 Failure to Yield the Right of Way 0

18 Juvenile Complaints 3 57 Arson Complaints 0

19 Fight Complaints 0 58 Suicide Complaints 0

20 Noise Complaints 2 59 Disorderly Conduct Complaints 14

21 Criminal Threat Complaints 4 60 Unlawful Sexual Contact 0

22 Lost & Found 5 61 Gross Sexual Contact 1

23 Neg. Worthless Inst. Comp. 0 62 Unattended Death Reports 0

24 Prowler Complaint 0 63 Burglary Arrests 0

25 Criminal Trespass Arrest 0 64 Violation of Probation Arrests 0

26 Assist Other Agencies 23 65 Criminal Records Check 25
27 Assault Arrest 1 66 Refusal to Sign U.T.T. 0
28 Drunk Complaint 0 67 Violation of Liquor Laws 1
29 Litter Complaint 1 68 Violation of Tobacco Laws 0
30 Theft Arrest 6 69 Violation of Drug Laws 0

31 Oper.Unregistered M/V 6 70 Liquor Law Complaints 0
32 Oper M/V Without a License 2 71 Snowsled & ATV Complaints 4

33 Driving To Endanger 0 72 Juvenile Arrests 9

34 Expired Inspection 2 73 Prov. A Place for Minors to Consume Alc. 0

35 Inadequate Exhaust 0 74 Criminal Mischief Arrests 0

36 Unnecessary Noise/Acceleration0 75 Violation of Bail Conditions 3

37 Eluding an Officer 0 76 Seatbelt Violation 0

38 Speeding 3 77 Disorderly Conduct Arrests 0
39 Fail to Stop for an Officer 0 78 Receiving Stolen Property 0



15 
 

 
 

  Page 2

Caribou Police Department
OFFENSE Amount OFFENSE Amount

79 House Watch Requests 7 91 Hindering Apprehension 1

80 Failure to License Dog 0 92 911 Calls 9

81 Truant from School 0 93 Warnings 63

82 Criminal Threatening Arrests 0 94 Domestic Assault 1

83 Terrorizing Arrests 0 95 Check on Well Being 7

84 Loaded Firearm in a M/V 0 96 Police Information 11

85 Making a False Public Report 0 97 Suspicious Activity/Person/MV 26

86 Child Endangerment 1 98 Civil Case 6

87 Tampering with a Witness 0

88 Violation Of Protection Order 0

89 Poss. of a Firearm by a Felon 0

90 Multi-handgun purchase 0

Respectively Submitted,

Chief Michael W. Gahagan

Caribou Police Department



16 
 

 
 
To: Mayor and Council Members 
From: Austin Bleess, City Manager 
Date: October 13, 2015 
Re: PDT Architects – RSU School Project 
 
Tonight we have Lyndon Keck and his team from PDT Architects here to give an update to the 
Council about the RSU 39 School Building project.   
 
Staff has concern about the possible relocation of the Teague Park to the Learning Center lot, if 
that is still possible.  There is a yellow book valuation that would have to be done to determine 
the value of both the Teague Park lot and the Learning Center lot. The trade would have to be of 
equal or better value for the City to satisfy the National Park Service requirements.  
 
The test fits that show Teague Park moving to the Learning Center also place the tennis courts on 
what is currently being utilized for parking directly behind the National Guard building. The 
current fence around the National Guard building would extend about 50 feet into the proposed 
ball field as well.   
 
Perhaps another option for a swap would be part of the Teague Park area, where North Street 
used to be, and south staying Teague Park and the current Middle School lot. That would require 
approximately .656acres of land of Teague Park to be given up. If we swapped the pool lot 
which is 2.6 acres and the .66 acres of Teague Park (for a total of approximately 3.26 acres) for 
the Middle School lot (which is 3.33 acres) that may be an easier swap.  
 
The cost of moving the ball field at Teague Park will likely be quite high, and leaving it intact 
might save money for the project.   
 
However, the Department of Education is hesitant to put fields across Bennett Drive and they do 
not like to see parks which anyone can have access to sharing a property line with a school.  
 
If Teague Park does get moved across the street we should look at what the city would need and 
want in a park that is being developed from the ground up. There would be opportunities to work 
with the RSU on fields so that we don’t duplicate fields, but can perhaps offer new opportunities 
in a new park.  
 
This is certainly a great project, and will be great for the community. However, the City must 
protect the open and green spaces for the citizens of Caribou to ensure they have free and open 
access to utilize these recreational activities as they can today.  
 
 
 

 

OFFICE OF THE CITY MANAGER 
CARIBOU, MAINE 



17 
 

 
 
 
TO: Caribou City Council 
FROM:  Wanda L. Raymond, Finance Director/Tax Collector 
DATE:  October 13, 2015 
RE:  Old personal property and Real Estate Tax 
 
Per the recommendation of our auditors, I am requesting writing off old outstanding personal 
property taxes and one real estate tax that at this point and time is deemed uncollectible.   
 
The majority of the write off comes from Maine Frozen Foods, Maine Packers and Val 
D’Amour. The breakdown is as follows: 
 
Maine Frozen Foods   2001 PP Tax  $20,634.75 
Maine Frozen Foods  2002 PP Tax  $20.653.09 
Maine Packers  2001 PP Tax $2,508.75 
Maine Packers  2002 PP Tax $2,510.98 
Val D’Amour  1999 PP Tax  $3,283.50 
Val D’Amour  2002 PP Tax $8.568.86 
Total     $58,159.93 
 
Maine Frozen Foods and Maine Packers declared bankruptcy.  Val D’Amour is a Canadien 
Company who once operated in Caribou and they left the area. Collection efforts were made on 
both accounts with no success.   
 
The real estate tax I am requesting is for 60 Access Hwy that was committed to Elcon in 2005 
but was sold to the City that year with the stipulation that the taxes would be forgiven.  That 
amount for 2005 is $17,997.90. 
 
The remaining amount being requested is $17,565.28 which is made up of small balances due 
from 1998 to 2008.   
 
The total being requested is $93,723.11 from account number G 1-140-00 Reserve for 
Uncollectible Tax and will be credited as follows: 

 G 1-210-98 $266.63  G 1-210-03 $1,189.24 

            G 1-210-99 $3993.50  G 1-210-04 $2,512.15 

 G 1-200-00 $871.25  G 1-210-05 $1,774.80 

 G 1-200-01 $24,230.25  G 1-210-06 $2,732.14 

 G 1-200-02 $32,820.65  G 1-210-07 $3,000.00 

 G 1-200-05 $17.997.90  G 1-210-08 $2,335.20 

 
Our auditors provided us with an adjusting entry at the end of 2012 from fund balance to G1-
140-00 to bring the balance of the account to $95,000 to allow for the write off of these 
uncollectible accounts.   
 

 

FINANCE OFFICE 
CARIBOU, MAINE 



18 
 

This will clear up all the old personal property taxes that are outside the statute of limitations and 
we are continuing to attempt to collect others through small claims court.   
 
 
 
 



19 
 

 
 
To: Mayor and Council Members 
From: Austin Bleess, City Manager 
Date: October 13, 2015 
Re: Agreement between City of Caribou and VFW for placement of Flags 
 
Following our meeting with the VFW and American Legion earlier this year about placing flags 
on Veterans grave sites Council directed staff to work with the VFW to come up with some type 
of agreement that outlines the duties and responsibilities of both parties, so that we have 
something in writing.  
 
On the next page is the agreement that has been drafted. It reflects the main points that the 
Council and VFW leadership agreed to during our meeting. Commander Felix of the VFW 
helped in the drafting of this and will be presenting it to his membership later this week at their 
meeting for approval.   
 

 

OFFICE OF THE CITY MANAGER 
CARIBOU, MAINE 



20 
 

This agreement entered into on ___________________ (Date) by the City of Caribou, Maine (City), with 

a main office at 25 High Street, Caribou, ME 04736 and the Lister-Knowlton VFW Post 9389 (VFW), with 

a main location at 253 Van Buren Road, Caribou, ME 04736, for the purposes of placing flags on the 

graves of veterans on the day Memorial day is observed is as follows:  

Throughout this agreement “Flags and flag holders” or “flags and holders” shall mean an American flag 

and appropriate flag holders as outlined in Maine State Statutes 30-A M.R.S.A. § 2901(1).  

Annually by October 1 of each year the VFW will provide to the City a reasonable cost for buying flags 

and flag holders that are necessary to be purchased in the upcoming calendar year. The VFW should 

include in their request the number of flags and holders on hand in usable condition, and the number of 

flags and holders to be purchased that will replace unusable flags and holders.  The City will consider this 

request and budget as requested on an annual basis.  

The City will provide to the VFW funds, as budgeted, to fulfill the request.  

The City of Caribou will work in conjunction with the VFW to recruit local civic organizations, community 

groups, and community members to work together with the VFW and other local Veterans groups to 

place and remove flags and holders on all known Veterans graves within the City limits of Caribou.  

The placement of flags and markers shall be done on or before Memorial Day is observed each year.  

The removal of flags and markers should be done within 7 days of Memorial Day being observed each 

year.  

When flags and holders are removed from the grave sites they will be stored at the VFW to help prevent 

a loss of flags and holders as well as maintaining one central location for the items. 

This agreement shall remain in full force and effect unless both parties mutually agree to a modification 

or until such time the Maine Legislature modifies the requirements of 30-A M.R.S.A. § 2901.  

 

Signed and agreed to by on the date first mentioned above:  

 

______________________________   ____________________________________ 

Austin Bleess      Roger Felix 

City Manager      Post Commander 

City of Caribou      Lister-Knowlton VFW Post 9389 

Duly authorized by the Caribou City Council 

on _______________ (Date of Meeting) 

 
 



21 
 

 
 
To: Mayor and Council Members 
From: Austin Bleess, City Manager 
Date: October 13, 2015 
Re: Sale of Tax Acquired Property 
 
 
In accordance with the Tax Acquired Property Policy we have been in discussions with people 
that are interested in buying Tax Acquired Property that has not been purchased when it went out 
for bid.  
 
The parcel at map 17, Lot 16 (761 Van Buren Road) has been out to bid a few times with no 
bidder. The abutting landowner has offered to pay $600 for this piece of land. That would leave 
an amount of $1,394.05 that the Council would need to abate.  
 
It is recommended the Council accept the offer and abate the remaining taxes on this property.  
 
The other parcel of land is Map 34, lots 169 and 158. This property is located at the end of South 
Park Street and the corner of Veronica Street. It’s currently vacant land. This property was tax 
acquired in the mid-1990’s.   
 
Karen Robbins has approached the City about buying this land. They would like to build a house 
on this property. They have offered $6,000 for the land.  
 
It is recommended the Council accept this offer.  
 
 
 
 

 

OFFICE OF THE CITY MANAGER 
CARIBOU, MAINE 



22 
 

 
 
To: Mayor and Council Members 
From: Austin Bleess, City Manager 
Date: October 13, 2015 
Re: 2015 Paving Projects 
 
Back in June the Council authorized the city to spend $254,000 on asphalt to fix roads in the 
community. The bid was awarded to Steelstone Industries.  They are unable to do the work this 
year. They have been too busy with other projects to get to our projects. Given the late date in 
the season it is not favorable to be laying new hot top now.  
 
Staff is requesting the Council allow us to move the $254,000 to the streets and roads reserve 
account for 2015. Our plan is to go out for new bids in 2016 and spend this money in 2016 to fix 
up the roads that would have been done in 2015, in addition to the streets that are being planned 
to be done in 2016.  
 
We would need Council authorization to move these funds to the reserve account.  
 

 

OFFICE OF THE CITY MANAGER 
CARIBOU, MAINE 



23 
 

 
 
To: Mayor and Council Members 
From: Austin Bleess, City Manager 
Date: October 13, 2015 
Re: Resolution Authorizing Continuance of DRMO Program 
 
Due to a change from the Federal Government on how equipment from the Defense Reutilization 
Marketing Office (DRMO) program can be distributed to communities, the federal government 
is requiring the local governing bodies, in our case the City Council, to approve the continuance 
of the City in the program.  
 
On the next page is a resolution that allows the City to continue to be a part of the program and 
continue to obtain equipment and property that can benefit the city.  
 
As the Council is aware, this program has helped to save the City of Caribou hundreds of 
thousands of dollars over the years. A number of vehicles that we have gotten over the years are 
from this program and have helped us to keep the requested amount for capital reserves low.  
 
Council approval is recommended.   
 
 
 

 

OFFICE OF THE CITY MANAGER 
CARIBOU, MAINE 



24 
 

 

 

 

 

 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CONTINUANCE IN THE 

DEFENSE REUTILIZATION MARKETING OFFICE PROGRAM 
 
WHEREAS, council approval in the City of Caribou Police Departments in the Defense 
Reutilization Marketing Office (DRMO) acquisitions program is necessary; 
 
WHEREAS, the Police Department has at various times needs for trucks, command and control 
vehicles, and other equipment and property that is available through the program,  
 
WHEREAS, the Police Department will use attained equipment for day to day operations,  
 
WHEREAS, the City Council determines that the acquisitions are necessary,  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the City Council of the City of Caribou, the 
Police Chief of Caribou Police Department, or his designee, shall be authorized to sign and enter 
into any required Memorandum of Understanding with the Defense Reutilization Marketing 
Office, and shall be authorized to acquire on behalf of the City of Caribou, federal property for 
the purpose of enhancing public safety and improving the quality of life for the citizens of 
Caribou.  
 
 
Signed this 13th day of October, 2015.  
 
 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
Gary Aiken, Mayor    David Martin, Councilor 
 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
Shane McDougall, Councilor   Tiffany Stewart, Councilor 
 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
Philip J. McDonough II, Councilor  Jody Smith, Councilor 
 
______________________________   
Joan Theriault, Councilor  
        Attest: 
 

______________________________ 
Jayne R. Farrin, City Clerk 

 

CITY COUNCIL 
CARIBOU, MAINE 



25 
 

 
 
To: Mayor and Council Members 
From: Austin Bleess, City Manager 
Date: October 13, 2015 
Re: Carpet At Library 
 
In July of this year the Library was awarded a grant in the amount of $15,000 to replace the 
carpeting in the main floor of the building. There is currently $17,022 in the Library Building 
Reserve account. The Library trustees may kick in some funding as well, but at this point that is 
unknown.  
 
The current carpet in the library is approximately 30 years old, as best we can tell. The carpet 
that is currently on the floor was placed over old asbestos tiles. Carpet installers today will not go 
over the current carpet that is there. So we will need to remove the carpet and have the asbestos 
properly removed as well as part of the project.  
 
The project can most easily be discussed in three sections. The main room (which includes the 
youth area and the Piper Reading Room), the children’s room, and the circulation desk area.  
 
For the main room the costs would be as follows: 
Asbestos Abatement $7,470 
Best carpet $14,365 
Better carpet $11,102 
Good carpet $7,086 (includes circulation desk) 
 
For the children’s room the costs would be as follows: 
Asbestos Abatement $3,260 
Best carpet $5,135 
Better carpet $3,024 
Good carpet $3,573 
 
For the circulation desk area: 
Asbestos Abatement $1,960 
Best carpet $3,000  
Better carpet $1,500 
Good carpet (included in main room costs above) 
 
The better and best carpet is from Sullivan Floor covering. The good carpet is from Carpet Barn. 
The terms are based upon the specs of each carpet.  
 
If we were to do all three areas the costs would be: 
Total asbestos costs $12,690 
Total better carpet cost $15,626 
Total project: $28,316 

 

OFFICE OF THE CITY MANAGER 
CARIBOU, MAINE 



26 
 

With the grant we are not required to do all of the rooms. There is no match required for the 
grant either. Staff recommends to do the whole project at once.  
 
Council approval for the project, on any scale, would be required.  
 



27 
 

 
 
To: Mayor and Council Members 
From: Austin Bleess, City Manager 
Date: October 13, 2015 
Re: Ordinance Regarding Sale of City Property 
 
At the last meeting Council introduced the ordinance to sell the following parcels of land: 
 
Map 5 lot 15 (off railroad tracks near Dow Siding Road) 
Map 8 lot 20 (off railroad tracks between Route 1 and the river) 
Map 36, Lots 104 and 106 (off Limestone Street) 
 
The City came into ownership of these properties at various times at least 20 years ago. In the 
case of Map 36 lots 104 and 106 the City bought the property and the old Caribou Development 
Corp paid to have the homes removed. This was back in the 1980’s. We have had interest from 
abutting landowners to purchase these properties. 
 
It’s unclear that the city had any use for these parcels besides clearing the slum/blight from them 
in the past. It makes sense to allow the sale of these properties to see them returned to the tax 
rolls and hopefully put to a good use.  
 
A public hearing is required as part of this. The ordinance is on the following page. 
 

 

OFFICE OF THE CITY MANAGER 
CARIBOU, MAINE 



28 
 

 
Councilor ______________ introduced the following ordinance: 

 
Ordinance No. 11, 2015 Series 

City of Caribou 
County of Aroostook 

State of Maine 
 
AN ORDINANCE REGARDING THE SALE OF MUNICIPAL PROPERTY 
 
 
The City Council of the City of Caribou, County of Aroostook, State of Maine, pursuant to the 
requirements of the City of Caribou Charter, Section 2.11 (7) does ordain the following: 

The City Council of the City of Caribou hereby authorizes the sale of municipally owned property 
located at Tax Map 005 Lot 015, Map 008 Lot 020, and Map 36 Lots 104 and 106 of the 2013 Tax 
Maps.  

The City Manager is hereby authorized to execute any and all documentation necessary for the 
conveyance of said property.  

 
 
This ordinance, being introduced on September 14, 2015 and a public hearing being held on 
October 13, 2015 was duly passed by the City Council of the City of Caribou, Maine, this 
________________.  
 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
Gary Aiken, Mayor    David Martin, Councilor 
 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
Shane McDougall, Councilor   Tiffany Stewart, Councilor 
 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
Philip J. McDonough II, Councilor  Jody Smith, Councilor 
 
______________________________   
Joan Theriault, Councilor  
        Attest: 
 

______________________________ 
Jayne R. Farrin, City Clerk 

 
 
 
 


